THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Alexander S. Macaulay, Presiding Judge Seventh Judicial Circuit

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-001404

---

Stoneledge At Lake Keowee Owners' Association, Inc., C. Dan Carson, Jeffrey J. Dauler, Joan W. Davenport, Michael Furnari, Donna Furnari, Jessy B. Grasso, Nancy E. Grasso, Robert P. Hayes, Lucy H. Hayes, Ty Hix, Jennifer D. Hix, Paul W. Hund, III, Ruth E. Isaac, Michael D. Plourde, Mary Lou Plourde, Carol C. Pope, Steven B. Taylor, Bette J. Taylor, and Robert White, Individually and on Behalf of All others similarly situated, Plaintiffs,

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the Lower Court Err by Collapsing Appellants' Cross-Claims for Breach of Contract and Breach of Warranty into One Claim for Equitable Indemnity and by Failing to Grant Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiffs filed this case in individual and representative capacities, as well as through a Property Owners Association, alleging construction defects at a townhome project in Oconee County known as Stoneledge (hereinafter “Stoneledge” or “Project”). Included in Plaintiffs’ numerous claims were claims against one of the general contractors affiliated with the Project, Marick Home Builders, LLC, and its affiliated member Rick Thoennes (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Marick”), and claims concerning alleged defective brick and stone installation and labor performed by Respondent subcontractor Clear View Construction, LLC and its owner Michael Franz (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Clear View”), alleged defective construction and allegedly supplying defective building materials utilized to construct the buildings by Respondent subcontractor Builders First Source—Southeast Group, LLC (hereinafter “BFS”), and alleged defective concrete installation and defective waterproofing as performed by Respondent subcontractor Southern Concrete Specialties, Inc. (hereinafter “Southern Concrete”). BFS, Clear View and Southern Concrete contracted directly with Marick. (R. pp 1287-1288; R. pp 1291-1292; R. pp 1289-1290.)

Stoneledge consists of eighty (80) townhomes developed during two phases of construction. Only Phase II of Stoneledge is the subject of this Appeal. As a result of being sued for the alleged defective stone mason work performed by Clear View, defective concrete installation and defective waterproofing application performed by Southern Concrete, and for the use of defective/improper building materials supplied by BFS and defective construction/installation concerning the framing, decks, siding and windows performed by BFS and its subcontractors, Marick filed cross-claims against the Respondents that performed work on the Project for indemnity, negligence, breach of contract and breach of warranty. (R. pp 69-

107.) This Appeal refers solely to the cross-claims for breach of contract and breach of warranty filed against each Respondent.<sup>1</sup>

Clear View, BFS and Southern Concrete filed motions for summary judgment as to Marick's cross-claims. (R. pp 653-660; R. pp 633-640; R. pp 714-720.) On September 5, 2012, arguments concerning said Motions and Motions filed by other parties not subject to this Appeal were heard all day by the lower court. Notwithstanding Appellants' opposition, the lower court issued an Order dated January 11, 2013, and filed on January 14, 2013, granting Clear View, BFS, and Southern Concrete summary judgment as to Marick's cross-claims for breach of contract and breach of warranty. (R. pp 1-11.) By separate orders which are currently before this Court in separate appeals, the lower court granted Clear View's and BFS's Motions for Summary Judgment concerning Marick's cross-claims for negligence and equitable indemnity.

Following receipt of the January 11, 2013 Order, which was filed on January 14, 2013, Marick promptly filed a Motion for Reconsideration and/or to Alter/Amend Judgment pursuant to South Carolina Rule Civil Procedure, Rule 59(e). (R. pp 894-901.) The 59(e) Motion was timely served and filed on January 24, 2013. The 59(e) Motion stated that the rulings set forth in the Court's January 11, 2013 Order were not consistent with South Carolina law. The Court conducted a hearing on this Motion on April 10, 2013. The Court denied Marick's 59(e) Motion by way of Order dated May 21, 2013, and filed May 22, 2013. (R. pp 23-27.)

The time having been tolled by the SCRCP 59(e) Motion filed by Marick, a Notice of Appeal dated June 6, 2013, was timely filed with the Court appealing the Court's Order dated May 21, 2013 upholding the Court's January 11, 2013 Order granting summary judgment. (R. pp

---

<sup>1</sup> The lower court's Order signed January 11, 2013 and filed January 14, 2013, on page 3 stated that a separate order found that Southern Concrete was entitled to judgment as a matter of law as to Marick's causes of action for negligence and equitable indemnity; however, a separate order was never entered by the lower court granting said relief to Southern Concrete. Thus, Marick's causes of action for negligence and equitable indemnity are presently viable causes of action before the lower court.

1-11; R. pp 23-27.) The Order was received by the Appellants on or about May 23, 2013 and a Notice of Appeal and Proof of Service was filed with the Court and served upon all parties on June 6, 2013.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This case was originally filed May 29<sup>th</sup>, 2009 by named Plaintiff Paul H. Hund, III, M.D. (hereinafter "Hund"). (R. pp 28-40.) Hund's Complaint alleged, among other things, water intrusion to exterior cladding, improper flashing, improper use of building paper, and inadequate installation of building components in Phase II of the Project.

Upon information and belief, Stoneledge Owners Association (hereinafter "SOA") took the position that Dr. Hund's Complaint was improper as the SOA was responsible for the exterior of the units. In November of 2009, the owners voted to retain an attorney to represent the SOA and amend the lawsuit to include the SOA and both Phase I and Phase II of the Project.

Dr. Hund amended the Complaint to add the SOA and additional individual homeowners as Plaintiffs and included new allegations concerning Phase I of the Project. Plaintiffs again alleged, among other things, water intrusion to exterior cladding, improper flashing, improper use of building paper, inadequate installation of building components, improper site work/grading, improper stone application and undisclosed latent defects.

Stoneledge at Lake Keowee is an 80-unit lakefront townhome development located in West Union, South Carolina along the shores of Lake Keowee. Stoneledge was constructed in two separate phases. The general contractor for Phase I construction was Bostic Brothers Construction, Inc. (hereinafter "Bostic Brothers"). Following completion of the exterior of all Phase I units and completion of a majority of the interiors of all Phase I units, Bostic Brothers terminated construction at Stoneledge.

After Bostic Brothers' exit, the remaining unsold units and vacant land was purchased by IMK Development Co., LLC (hereinafter "IMK"). IMK was owned by corporate entities IK and Marick. Once purchased, IMK retained Marick as the general contractor to construct Phase II at Stoneledge.

During construction, Marick subcontracted with Clear View to perform brick and stone labor at Phase II of the Project. (R. pp 1289-1290.) Marick did not supply or install any of the stone at Phase II of the Project; all of the stonework was performed by subcontractors which included Clear View. It was alleged in Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint that work performed by Clear View was deficient; thus, Marick and Clear View were sued by Plaintiffs for those deficiencies. Plaintiffs supported their allegations by submitting testimony of an expert witness. Plaintiffs hired Construction Science and Engineering ("CSE") to investigate the conditions at Stoneledge and develop a scope of repair. Plaintiffs' expert, Derrick Hodgin, testified that there are defects associated with the stone application at Phase II of the Project. (R. pp 565-567; R. p 580; R. p 581; R. p 583; R. pp 584-586.)

During construction, Marick subcontracted with Southern Concrete to perform the concrete work at Phase II of the Project which included installing waterproofing to the concrete. (R. pp 1291-1292.) Marick did not supply or install any of the concrete or waterproofing at Phase II of the Project; all of the concrete work was performed by Southern Concrete or other subcontractors. Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint alleged that work performed by Southern Concrete was deficient; thus, Marick and Southern Concrete were sued by Plaintiffs for said alleged deficiencies. Marick performed no labor at the Project, only supervision for of its subcontractors. Jason Carlan, Southern Concrete's 30(b)(6) designee, testified that Marick provided supervision and oversight at the Project. (R. pp 603-604; R. pp

606-607; R. pp 611-612.) Carlan further testified that he told Nathan and Marick that work performed by Southern Concrete was performed in accordance with manufacturer's instructions. (R. pp 608-609.)

Marick further contracted directly with Respondent BFS for BFS to supply materials to the Project and to install the framing, decks, doors, siding and windows. (R. pp 1287-1288.) (R. p 537.) As further proof that a contract existed between Marick and BFS, BFS 30(b)(6) designee, Terry Rosamond, testified that BFS contracted directly with Marick. (R. p 532.) BFS then subcontracted with Carl Catoe Construction, Inc. (hereinafter "Catoe") to perform the construction related labor and installation services. (R. pp 527-530.) Catoe then subcontracted the labor and installation services out to the numerous other subcontractors which are referred to as the Catoe Subcontractors. Thus, BFS was a supplier of materials for the Project and it provided oversight and supervision for Catoe and the Catoe's Subcontractors. Thus, Marick did not supply any of the materials to the Project and did not perform any construction labor at the Project. Further, other than supplying building materials to the Project, BFS subcontracted out all of the work it agreed to perform; thus, BFS's only role concerning labor was to provide oversight and guidance to Catoe and the Catoe Subcontractors. It was alleged in Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint that work performed and or building materials supplied by BFS, Catoe and the Catoe Subcontractors was deficient; thus, Marick, BFS, Catoe and the Catoe Subcontractors were sued by Plaintiffs for those alleged deficiencies. Plaintiffs supported said allegations by submitting testimony of an expert witness. Plaintiffs' expert, Derrick Hodgin, testified that there are defects associated with the work BFS, Catoe and the Catoe Subcontractors performed at the Project.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs' expert, Derrick Hodgin, testified that there are alleged defects associated with the wood-siding installation and failure to apply appropriate flashing and weather resistant barrier to the structures at Phase II of the

Marick also retained the services of an expert, Randy Still. As stated earlier, Marick was the general contractor and provided no construction related labor associated with actual construction of the Project at Stoneledge; Marick only provided supervision. (R. p 517; R. p 620.) Thus, Marick's only function (as the general contractor) was to hire subcontractors, schedule construction and to use ordinary care in providing supervision to the subcontractors. As discussed below, Marick submitted evidence to refute the allegations made by Plaintiffs that Marick was responsible for the deficient work performed by Clear View, BFS and Southern Concrete. Marick further submitted evidence that it used ordinary care in providing supervision at the Project.

Marick further submitted evidence that each Respondent entered into binding contracts with Marick and agreed to hold Marick harmless for any liability Marick incurred as a result of the Respondents' work. (R. pp 1287-1288; R. pp 1291-1292; R. pp 1289-1290.)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides for judgment as a matter of law where "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact." S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The purpose of summary judgment is to dispose of factually unsupported claims. *Celotex v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). "Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co.*, 563 S.E.2d 109, 112 (S.C. Ct. App.

---

Project. (R. pp 542-543; R. pp 544-545; R. p 547; R. pp 550-552; R. pp 555-559.) Hodgin also testified that the house wrap applied by the Catoe Subcontractors did not integrate properly with the flashing. (R. pp 553-554.) Further, Hodgin testified that the siding fasteners installed by the Catoe Subcontractors had improper spacing which could result in future damage. (R. pp R. pp 560-561.) Additionally, Hodgin opined that the flashing applied between the windows and the stone was inadequate and that flashing associated with windows throughout Phase II was inadequate. (R. pp 575-576; R. p 587.) Among other things, Hodgin located the following deficiencies which correlate with work performed by the Catoe Subcontractors: improper flashing of doors, improper construction of exterior balconies and damage to balconies. (R. p 582; R. pp 588-595.) All of the work performed by the Catoe Subcontractors was work BFS contracted with Marick to perform.

2002). “Summary judgment is appropriate in those cases in which plain, palpable and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ.” *Tompkins v. Festival Centre Group*, 306 S.C. 193, 410 S.E.2d 593 (Ct. App. 1991).

A trial court should not grant a motion for summary judgment when pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is a genuine issue as to any material fact. *Vermeer Carolina’s, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 58, 518 S.E.2d 301, 304 (1999) (citations omitted). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, which will preclude summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Vermeer Carolina’s, Inc.*, 336 S.C. at 58, 518 S.E.2d at 305. All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. *Id.* Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Id.*

If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. *Rothrock v. Copeland*, 305 S.C. 402, 409 S.E.2d 366 (1991).

“In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (S.C. 2009); *See: Thomas Sand, Co.*, 563 S.E.2d at 112 (on negligence cause of action, “[a]t the summary

judgment stage of the proceedings, it is only necessary for the nonmoving party to submit a scintilla of evidence warranting determination by a jury for summary judgment to be denied.”)

“Although a Rule 59(e) motion may effectively seek a reconsideration of issues and arguments, this type of motion is often required for issue preservation purposes. *See Elam v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). We explained in *Elam* that ‘there is nothing inherently unfair in allowing a party one final chance not only to call the court's attention to a possible misapprehension of an earlier argument, but also to revisit a previously raised argument.’ *Id.* at 22, 602 S.E.2d at 779. Indeed, ‘it is inherently unfair to disallow such an opportunity.’” *Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S. Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009).

### ARGUMENT

#### **I. The Lower Court Erred by Collapsing Appellants’ Cross-Claims for Breach of Contract and Breach of Warranty into One Claim for Equitable Indemnity and by Failing to Grant Appellants’ Motion for Reconsideration.**

Appellants believe this issue is a matter of first impression for South Carolina appellant courts as the lower court cited (R. pp 1-11) no binding case law in support of its holding. In support of its holding, the lower court cited two non-binding federal district court cases (*U.S. Fidelity & Guarantee Co. v. Patriot’s Point Development Authority*, 788 F. Supp. 880, 881 (D.S.C. 1992) and *S.C. National Bank v. Stone*, 749 F. Supp. 1419, 1433 (D.S.C. 1990)) and two non-binding unpublished South Carolina circuit court orders (*Nelson v. John Weiland Home*, 2009-CP-10-6573 (Order by Judge Roger M. Young, October 26, 2011) (*unpublished order*) and *Kirkland v. Cambridge Building Corp.*, 2006-CP-07-1312 (Order by Judge Curtis L. Coltrane, May 30, 2006) (*unpublished order*)).

The cases of *U.S. Fidelity & Guarantee Co.* and *S.C. National Bank* are both securities law cases which Appellants assert cannot be properly compared with construction litigation and the general contractor/subcontractor relationship. Additionally, in *U.S. Fidelity & Guarantee Co.*, there was an order in place removing all claims by Plaintiff against the non-settling Defendants which could give rise to the indemnity sought from the settling parties. 788 F. Supp. 880, 883, n. 3. However, in this case, Clear View has not settled with Plaintiffs, and Plaintiffs continue to pursue allegations of defective stonework against Marick. Further, BFS and Southern Concrete have settled with Plaintiffs; however, Plaintiffs continue to pursue Marick for the alleged defects attributable to the work performed and/or the materials supplied by BFS and Southern Concrete. Marick continues to incur attorney fees and costs associated with Respondents' failure to perform duties which resulted in a breach of contract with Marick. Attorney fees and costs are damages separate from Plaintiffs' alleged damages; thus, Marick's alleged damages are separate from those requested by Plaintiffs.

Appellants assert that the referenced federal court orders should not be persuasive in this matter and that the non-binding lower court holdings in *Nelson* and *Kirkland* were erroneous and thus should not be followed. Appellants may recover special damages at law under a theory of breach of warranty and breach of contract from the Respondents.

Specifically, here, each Respondent and Marick entered into separate Contracts which created a specific duty upon each Respondent to perform specific work: (1) Clear View contracted to perform stonework at Phase II of the Project (R. pp 1289-1290); Southern Concrete contracted to perform concrete work at Phase II of the Project (R. pp 1291-1292); and BFS contracted to supply materials and perform construction labor at Phase II of the Project (R. pp

1287-1288). South Carolina law is well settled that special damages arising from another's wrongful conduct are recoverable at law. South Carolina courts have held:

if the wrongful act of the defendant has involved the plaintiff in litigation with others or placed him in such relation with others as makes it necessary to incur expenses to protect his interest, such expenses should be treated as the legal consequence of the original wrongful act and may be recovered. We further held that recovery may be had at law in the form of special damages, or in equity in the form of equitable indemnity.

*Griffin v. Van Norman*, 302 S.C. 520, 523, 397 S.E.2d 378, 380 (Ct. App. 1990) citing *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman-Singleton, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 52, 398 S.E.2d 500 (1990) citing *Addy v. Bolton*, 257, S.C. S.E.2d 708 (1971).

In *Addy v. Bolton*, the defendant owner of a building was sued by its tenant when the building caught on fire. The owner of the building then sued the contractor whose negligent work caused the fire. The owner's recovery of fees and costs from the negligent contractor was upheld by the South Carolina Supreme Court, reasoning that "the weight of authority sustains [the building owners] right of recovery, either on the theory of an implied contract to indemnify, or because they were put to the necessity of defending themselves against the claim by the tortious conduct of the contractor, or by his breach of contract." *Addy v. Bolton*, 257 S.C. 28, 33, 183 S.E.2d 708, 710 (1971).

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