RECEIVED

OCT 13 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alexander S. Macaulay, Presiding Judge Seventh Judicial Circuit

Case No.: 2013-001404

Stoneledge At Lake Keowee Owners' Association, Inc., C. Dan Carson, Jeffrey J. Dauler, Joan W. Davenport, Michael Furnari, Donna Furnari, Jessy B. Grasso, Nancy E. Grasso, Robert P. Hayes, Lucy H. Hayes, Ty Hix, Jennifer D. Hix, Paul W. Hund, III, Ruth E. Isaac, Michael D. Plourde, Mary Lou Plourde, Carol C. Pope, Steven B. Taylor, Bette J. Taylor, and Robert White, Individually and on Behalf of All others similarly situated.....Plaintiffs

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Correctly Held That Appellant Marick's Negligence, Breach Of Contract, and Breach of Warranty Claims Are Equitable Indemnification Claims.

The Circuit Court properly found that Marick's negligence, breach of contract, and breach of warranty claims (hereinafter "separately styled claims") are claims for equitable indemnity, because the allegations and remedies sought in Marick's separately styled claims characterize the claims as hallmark indemnity claims.

A. Standard of Review.

In reviewing the trial court's grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Sauner v. Public Serv. Auth.*, 354 S.C. 397, 404, 581 S.E.2d 161, 165 (2003). A party is entitled to summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In deciding a summary judgment motion, the court must view the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party; however, a court "cannot ignore facts unfavorable to that party and must determine whether a ruling for the party opposing the motion would be reasonable under the facts of the case." *Bloom v.*

Ravoria, 399 S.C. 417, 423, 529 S.E.2d 710, 713 (2000). When the party moving for summary judgment does not bear the ultimate burden of persuasion at trial, the burden for summary judgment may be discharged by “pointing out to the court that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case.” *Sides v. Greenville Hospital System*, 362 S.C. 250, 255, 607 S.E.2d 362, 364 (Ct. App. 2004).

A party opposing a motion for summary judgment “may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule must set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.” Rule 56(e), SCRPC.

“Under Rule 59(f), SCRPC, a Rule 59(e) motion may in the discretion of the court be determined on the briefs filed by the parties without oral argument.” *Pollard v. City of Florence*, 314 S.C. 397, 402, 444 S.E.2d 534, 536 (Ct. App. 1994). The decision to grant or deny such motions will be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

B. Marick’s Separately Styled Claims against Respondents are Disguised Indemnity Claims.

Marick’s cross-claim for Equitable Indemnity alleges that if Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment against Marick, then Marick is entitled to recovery against Respondents. (R. pp. 1-11; *see also* R. pp. 93-95, ¶¶ 154-158.)

1. Nature of Indemnity.

Although Marick has asserted additional claims against Respondents for negligence, breach of contract and breach of warranty, these separately styled claims all are, in substance, equitable indemnity claims. “Indemnity is that form of compensation in which a first party [here, allegedly, Respondents] is liable to pay a second party [here, Marick] for a loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party [here, the Plaintiffs

in the underlying action].” *Vermeer Carolina’s, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper, Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 60, 518 S.E.2d 301, 305 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman-Singleton, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 52, 56, 398 S.E.2d 500, 502 (Ct. App. 1990), *aff’d*, 307 S.C. 128, 414 S.E.2d 118 (1992)); *see also Rock Hill Telephone Co. v. Globe Communications*, 363 S.C. 385, 611 S.E.2d 235 (2005).

2. Determining the Character of Claims.

South Carolina law dictates that the character of an action is determined by the allegations contained in the complaint, specifically, “the nature of the issues and remedies which are sought.” *State v. Yelsen Land Co.*, 257 S.C. 401, 403, 185 S.E.2d 897, 898 (1972); *Seebaldt v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n*, 269 S.C. 691, 692, 239 S.E.2d 726, 727 (1977). “The character of an action is not to be determined by the terminology which the pleaders may chance to give it. On the contrary, [it] is fixed by the events which the pleaders have recited.” *Walsh v. Evans*, 112 S.C. 131, 131, 99 S.E.2d 546, 548 (1919). Further, courts may use the allegations in the complaint to determine the correct character of an action. *See Seebaldt*, 269 S.C. at 692, 239 S.E.2d at 727 (“the character of an action is primarily determined by the allegations contained in the complaint”).

3. Marick’s Separately Styled Claims are All Claims for Equitable Indemnity.

Marick’s separately styled claims are subsumed by its equitable indemnification claim, because the allegations and remedies sought by both actions stem directly from the potential liability Marick could face for the damages claimed by Plaintiffs. (R. p. 987; R. p. 8.) Marick makes no allegations concerning independent personal or property damage allegedly suffered because of Respondents’ actions. Marick has advanced no argument to refute the fact that despite the individual styling of its separate cross-claims, the only

damages it seeks arise from its potential exposure to Plaintiffs' claims. (See R. p. 95, ¶ 158; R. p. 96, ¶ 162; R. pp. 99-100, ¶¶ 169-170; R. p. 102, ¶ 174.)

In sum, because Marick's equitable indemnification claim and separately styled claims all seek recovery from Respondents if Marick is found liable to Plaintiffs, they are properly characterized as equitable indemnity claims.

4. The Circuit Court's Decision as to the Nature of Marick's Claims is Properly Supported by Authority.

In properly finding that Marick's separately styled claims are subsumed by its equitable indemnity claim, the Circuit Court relied on *U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Patriot's Point Development Authority*, 788 F. Supp. 880, 881 (D.S.C. 1992) and *S.C. National Bank v. Stone*, 749 F. Supp. 1419, 1433 (D.S.C. 1990). Contrary to Appellants' argument on appeal, these cases apply directly to the facts of the case at bar. While they are not construction defect cases, they involve the judicial process of considering the allegations and damages pleaded in determining the nature of an action, which process South Carolina courts upheld in *Walsh* and its progeny, *infra*. See *U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co.*, 788 F. Supp. at 881 (stating that the non-settling defendants have independent claims apart from indemnification and contribution, because the claims were nothing more than claims for indemnity, and because they would not exist without the plaintiff's suing the non-settling defendants); *S.C. National Bank*, 749 F. Supp. at 1433 (holding that the cross-claims against the settling defendants for breach of contract, negligence, and fraud were claims for contribution or indemnification, albeit with a slight change in wording).

The Circuit Court's ruling as to Marick's separately styled claims also comports with recent rulings by other South Carolina courts. *Nelson v. John Weiland Homes*,

2009-CP-10-6573 (unpublished order) and *Kirkland v. Cambridge Building Corp.*, 2006-CP-07-1312 (unpublished order) are construction defect cases in which the party asserting multiple cross-claims sought to recover from a co-defendant its potential exposure for the plaintiff's claims, not independent damages. (R. p. 755-771.) In *Nelson*, Judge Roger M. Young found that all of the contractor's negligence, breach of warranty, and breach of contract claims against the HVAC system subcontractor were disguised indemnity claims because the contractor sought to recover the contractor's liability to the plaintiff homeowner, not independent injury or property damages. Likewise, in *Kirkland*, Judge Curtis L. Coltrane found that the contractor's negligence and breach of warranty claims against a material supplier were merely disguised indemnity claims because the contractor sought to recover solely its potential liability to the plaintiff homeowner. The relief sought in both *Nelson* and *Kirkland* was identical to what Marick seeks in each and every one of its cross-claims.

In this case, if Plaintiffs had not sued Marick, Marick would have no claims to assert against Clear View for its own independent injury or property damage. Appellants have failed to address or advance any argument as to how the allegations and remedies sought by Marick's separately styled claims differ from to its equitable indemnity claim, other than arguing that attorneys' fees and costs constitute "special damages." As discussed herein, however, such "special damages" clearly stem from the potential liability Marick could face for the damages claimed by Plaintiffs, and therefore do not constitute independent bases for recovery.²

² This argument is addressed fully in § B (3), *supra*.

The Circuit Court’s ruling is also consistent with decisions of the highest courts in other states dismissing disguised indemnity claims. *See, e.g., Dodge Trucks, Inc. v. Wilson*, 231 S.E.2d 818, 821 (Ga. Ct. App. 1976) (stating “regardless of what [Plaintiff] may name [his claim], it is an action for contribution and indemnity”), *aff’d*. 235 S.E.2d 142, 144 (Ga. 1977); *Frazer v. A.E. Munstennan, Inc.*, 527 N.E.2d 1248, 1258-59 (Ill. 1983) (observing that, although the claims were “stated as counts for breach of implied warranty, they should be regarded as claims for indemnity”); *Warner v. Reagan Buick, Inc.*, 483 N.W.2d 764, 770 (Neb. 1992) (noting that although the third-party plaintiff made claims for breach of contract, “[t]he gravamen of the third-party petition is indemnification, and we shall treat it as such”).

5. Appellants’ “Special Damages” Argument is Without Merit

In addition to recognizing Marick’s separately styled claims as disguised indemnity claims, the Circuit Court correctly held that the attorneys’ fees and costs sought by Marick’s separately styled claims are directly related to Marick’s defending against potential liability it could face for Plaintiffs’ claims. Appellants’ argument that the lower court erred because Marick may recover special damages at law under a theory of negligence lacks merit. Appellants seek to classify attorneys’ fees and costs as damages separate from damages sought by Plaintiffs, and therefore recoverable under a separate cause of action. (Appellants’ Initial Brief in Case 1403, 8-9.) As explained above, Marick’s argument ignores the fact that the attorneys’ fees and costs it characterizes as “special damages” are sought in conjunction with “all damages Plaintiffs may recover against Marick,” because “should Plaintiffs prevail on their claims, Marick will be damaged as a direct and proximate result of [Respondents’ negligence.]” (R. pp.

99-100, ¶ 169.) The attorneys' fees and costs Marick seeks are classic derivative indemnity damages based upon damages it alleges it will incur defending Plaintiffs' claims against it. Despite Marick's alleging these "special damages" under its claim styled as negligence, they are not special damages stemming from a separate "duty" owed to Marick by Clear View. Instead, the attorneys' fees and costs Marick has pled stem from the potential exposure to Plaintiffs' claims Marick alleges it faces because of Clear View's Project work.

Significantly, Appellants' "special damages" argument is based on the Contract Appellants allege created a specific duty owed to Marick by Clear View. (Appellants' Initial Brief in Case 1403, at 8.) As a preliminary matter, Marick has not met its burden of establishing that the Contract is a binding contract for the Project consisting of an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration. *See Manios v. Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP*, 389 S.C. 126, 146, 697 S.E.2d 644, 655 (Ct. App. 2010) (stating the requirements for contract formation); *Sauner*, 354 S.C. at 406, 581 S.E.2d at 166; *Fuller v. Eastern Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 240 S.C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (1962) (stating that the party claiming relief under a contract has the burden of establishing the contract). "In South Carolina, the formation of a contract is governed by well-settled principles. Quite simply, '[a] contract exists where there is an agreement between two or more persons upon sufficient consideration either to do or not to do a particular act.'" *See Carolina Amusement Co., Inc. v. Connecticut Nat. Life Ins. Co.*, 313 S.C. 215, 220, 437 S.E.2d 122, 125 (Ct. App. 1993), citing *Benya v. Gamble*, 282 S.C. 624, 628, 321 S.E.2d 57, 60 (Ct. App. 1984). "In general, valuable consideration to support a contract may consist of some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance,

detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered, or undertaken by the other.” See 30 S.C. Jur. Contracts § 13, citing *J.C. White Lumber Co., Inc. v. Allen*, 306 S.C. 183, 410 S.E.2d 588 (Ct. App. 1991); *Sanchez v. Tilley*, 285 S.C. 449, 330 S.E.2d 319 (Ct. App. 1985). A promise by a party to do that which it has already legally obligated itself to do is not a valid consideration. See *City of Spartanburg v. Spartan Villa*, 273 S.C. 1, 5, 253 S.E.2d 501, 503 (1978). “Consideration that is wholly past is not valuable consideration.” *Future Group, II v. Nationsbank*, 324 S.C. 89, 97, 478 S.E.2d 45, 49 (1996).

Appellants have offered no evidence that the Contract applied to the Project or would otherwise be enforceable in this matter. Likewise, Appellants have offered no evidence to contradict the record evidence showing that Clear View completed all its Project work by August 2007, and was paid solely for the work it performed, all of which work pre-dates the Contract. (See R. pp. 674-692.) The Circuit Court correctly found that Marick’s failure to produce evidence that the Contract was supported by consideration is fatal to Marick’s burden of establishing that the Contract applied to the Project. (R. pp. 10-11.)

Further, evidence exists that Marick had no contractor’s license during the Project’s construction, and is therefore prohibited from enforcing any contract terms as a matter of law. See S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370. South Carolina Code Section 40-11-30 provides that “[n]o entity. . . may practice as a contractor by performing or offering to perform contracting work for which the total cost of construction is greater than five thousand dollars for general contracting or five thousand dollars for mechanical contracting without a license issued in accordance with this chapter.” If a commercial contractor performs work without a license, it “may not bring an action either at law or in

equity to enforce the provisions of a contract.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-11-370(C). The same prohibition exists as to residential home builders. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-30. Even if the Contract did apply to the Project – which Respondents deny and Appellants have not proved – South Carolina’s plainly worded statutes prohibit Marick from enforcing the Contract to create a duty owed by Clear View to Marick.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the Contract does create a legal duty from which Appellant Marick could recover attorneys’ fees and costs spent defending against claims arising from Clear View’s allegedly faulty work, Appellants’ reliance on *Addy v. Bolton*, 257 S.C. 28, 183 S.E.2d 708 (1971), and its progeny for the contention that “recovery may be had at law in the form of special damages” does not create reversible error in the Circuit Court’s Orders. (*See* Appellants’ Initial Br. in Case 1403, 8; Appellants’ Initial Br. in Case 1404, 11.) As detailed above, Marick’s claims against Respondents all seek the classic indemnity remedies of what Marick “may incur in legal fees and costs or is ordered to pay to the Plaintiffs for which they sue.” (*See, e.g.*, R. pp. 99-100.) Appellants fail in their attempt to classify attorneys’ fees and costs as separate special damages, and not indemnity damages, because the authorities Appellants cite in support of this argument are all classic equitable indemnity cases. *See Griffin v. Van Norman*, 302 S.C. 520, 527, 392 S.E.2d 378, 382 (Ct. App. 1990) (affirming the judgment of the circuit court awarding the respondent her settlement costs as equitable indemnity); *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman-Singleton, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 52, 56, 398 S.E.2d 500, 502 (Ct. App. 1990), *aff’d*, 307 S.C. 128, 414 S.E.2d 118 (1992) (affirming the award of attorneys’ fees on the theory of special damages and equitable indemnity); *Addy v. Bolton*, 257 S.C. 28, 183 S.E.2d 708 (1971) (holding that in the absence of an express contract of indemnity

between the parties, if no personal fault of the indemnitee has joined in causing the injury, reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in resisting the claim indemnified against may be recovered under an action for an implied contract to indemnify).

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